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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
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eta!., 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), brings this action to halt a debt 

collection operation that uses threats and intimidation to extract payments from consumers. 

Defendants use deception, abuse, and harassment to carry out their scheme, which has been 

victimizing consumers since at least 2009. They have continued to disregard the law despite 

entering into an Assurance of Discontinuance with theState ofNew York in February 2013. 

Defendants' strong-arm tactics violate Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC 
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Y.); Flowing Streams, F.S., Inc. (!d. at 75 ~46, Att. BB); 1 Central Check Processing, Inc. (Id. at 

76 ~49, Att. EE.); American Check Procesing, Inc., alkla American Check Processing (Id. at 76-

77 ~52, Att. HH.); Central Processing Services, Inc. (Id. at 77-78 ~55, Att. KK.); and Nationwide 

Check Processing, Inc., a/k/a National Processing Services (!d. at 78 ~57, Att. MM.). Nationwide 

Check Processing-which was incorporated in Colorado 
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connected to Federal Recoveries (Jd. at 
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Many of the addresses listed for the Corporate Defendants-on corporate papers, bank 

statements, and in communications to consumers-are addresses at commercial mail receiving 

entities. 
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continued to employ a myriad of unlawful tactics while operating their debt collection enterprise. 

Since Briandi and Moses signed the AOD on February 3, 2013, the FTC has received over 60 

complaints from consumers against the Corporate Defendants. (/d. at 87 ~90.) The only change 

that Defendants made in their operation was to form a new corporation in Colorado-

Nationwide Check Processing-in order to evade detection. (Id. at 78 ~57, Att. MM.) Recently, 

in an effort to conceal their continued New York presence, Defendants have informed consumers 

that Nationwide Check's mailing address is located in Erie, Pennsylvania. (PX13 at 374 ~6.) 

This address is also a commercial mail receiving entity. (PXll at 85 ~78.) 

III. DEFENDANTS' DECEPTIVE AND ABUSIVE COLLECTION PRACTICES 

Defendants buy debt portfolios from third-party brokers and collect consumer debts 

nationwide on their own behalf. Defendants obfuscate that they are debt collectors and instead 

make a series of misrepresentations aimed at convincing consumers that they have committed 

check fraud or another crime. If consumers fail to pay immediately, Defendants falsely claim 

that they will face devastating consequences. 

Defendants' illegal collection tactics fall into four main categories: (1) using false and 

misleading representations to collect debts; (2) engaging in prohibited communications with 

third parties such as a consumer's friends or family; (3) failing to make required disclosures; and 

( 4) failing to provide consumers with required validation notices. These practices violate Section 

5 of the FTC Act and multiple provisions of the FDCP A. 

A. Defendants Use False, Deceptive, or Misleading 
Representations to Collect Payments from Consumers 

Section 5 of the FTC Act prohibits "unfair or deceptive practices in or affecting 

commerce." 15 U.S.C. § 45. An act or practice is deceptive under Section 5(a) if it involves a 

material representation, omission, or practice that is likely to mislead consumers acting 

6 
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reasonably under the circumstances. FTC v. Verity Int'l, Ltd. ("Verity If'), 443 F.3d 48, 63 (2d 

Cir. 2006); FTC v. Navestad, No. 09-CV-6329T, 2012 WL 1014818 at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Mar. 23, 

20 12). "A representation is material if it involves information that is important to consumers 

and, hence, likely to affect their choice of, or conduct regarding, a product." Navestad, 2012 WL 

1014818 at *4. 

In considering whether a claim is misleading, the Court must consider the "overall 

impression" created by the representation. FTC v. Med. Billers Network, Inc., 543 F. Supp. 2d 

283, 304 (S.D.N.Y. 2008); FTC v. Five-Star Auto Club, 97 F. Supp. 2d 502, 528 (S.D.N.Y. 

2000) ("[T]he Court must consider the misrepresentations at issue, by viewing [them] as a whole 

without emphasizing isolated words or phrases apart from their context.") (citations omitted). 

The FTC need not prove that Defendants' misrepresentations were made with an intent to 

defraud or deceive, or were made in bad faith. Verity II, 443 F.3d at 63; Five-Star Auto Club, 97 

F. Supp. 2d at 526. 

Similarly, Section 807 of the FDCPA prohibits the use of"any false, deceptive, or 

misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt." 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e. Section 807 lists examples of actions that violate this prohibition, but provides that 

prohibited actions are not limited to the examples. In determining whether a practice or 

statement is deceptive, courts use the "least sophisticated consumer" standard to ensure that the 

FDCPA "protects all consumers, the gullible as well as e n s u r e  t h e  ensure 
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imprisoned; (3) Defendants are affiliated with government entities, including law enforcement 

agencies; ( 4) Defendants have filed or will file legal action against consumers; ( 5) Defendants 

are going to garnish consumers' wages; and (6) consumers owe the debt in instances where 

Defendants lack a reasonable basis for making such a claim. 

These misrepresentations begin with the first telephone communication from Defendants. 

Defendants' collectors often emphasize the company names to suggest a government affiliation 

or a national presence ("Federal," "US," "State," "American," "Nationwide," or "United"). 

(PX01 at 1 ~3; PX03 at 24 ~2; PX05 at 31 ~ 2; PX07 at 43 ~3; PX08 at 48 ~ 5; PX09 at 51-52 ~4; 

PXlO at 60 ~2; PX12 at 374-75 ~10; PX14 at 383 ~~3-4; PX15 at 389 ~6, 390 ~11.) The 

defendants rarely inform the consumers that they are debt collectors. Rather, Defendants assert 

that they are check processors or investigators, and that the consumers have committed check 

fraud or another criminal act. (PX01 at 3 ~3, Att. Cat 17; PX02 at 20 ~ 3, 21 ~5; PX03 at 24 ~4; 

PX04 at 28 ~3; PX05 at 31 ~4; PX07 at 43 ~3, 44 ~5; PX09 at 51-52 ~4; PXlO at 60 ~2; PX12 at 

373 ~4, 374 ~10; PX14 at 383-84 ~~4-5, 384 ~10, Att. A; PX15 at 388-89 ~5.) For example, 

Defendants left a series of voice mails for one consumer in which the Defendants claimed to be 

"investigators" or from the "fraud division," and that they were trying to reach the consumer 

about a "bad check," "formal complaint" in which the consumer was named as the "primary 

respondent," or "allegation of pending check fraud." (PXOl at Att. B. at 10, Att. Cat 17; PX13 

Att. A at 380-81; PX14 at Att. A (audio voicemail recordings).) 

With this deceptive backdrop, Defendants threaten dire consequences if consumers do not 

make immediate payments. For example, Defendants have threatened to have consumers 

arrested or imprisoned (PX01 at 2 ~~6-8; PX04 at 29 ~6; PX05 at 32 ~7; PX06 at 36 ~15; PX07 

at 43 ~3; PX08 at 47 ~4; PX12 at 373 ~4, 374-75 ~10; PX14 at 383-84 ~5; PX15 at 388-89 ~5, 

8 
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consumer declared, "[t]he representative's emphasis on 'U.S. or United States' along with her 

description of the company as a clearinghouse for bad checks made me think that her company 

was a branch of the federal government. As a result, I was genuinely fearful that my son would 

be arrested for writing bad checks." (PX07 at 44 ,;5.) 

There is, however, no evidence that Defendants sue consumers to collect debts or have 

any intention of doing so. The FTC is not aware of any consumers, including those who refused 

to pay Defendants and those who paid only a portion of the amount demanded, who were sued 

by Defendants, the original creditors, or anyone else to collect the debts. (PX02 at 23 ,;14; PX04 

at 30 111; PX09 at 56 119; PX08 at 49 19; PX12 at 376 118.) 
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Often, when consumers have asked about the origins of the purported debt, defendants 

have provided false or insufficient information. For example, some consumers have contacted 

the purported original creditor or their bank who informed them that the debt already had been 

satisfied. (PX02 at 22-23 ~12; PX15 at 395 ~41.) Other consumers have provided Defendants 

with information calling into question the legitimacy of the purported debt. (PX05 at 32 ~7; 

PX09 at 52-53 ~~7-8; PX12 at 373-74 ~5; PX15 at 393 ~30.) For example, when one consumer 

informed Defendants' representative that she had proof from her bank that she had paid off her 

debt, the representative hung up on her but continued collection attempts soon thereafter. (PX15 

at 395 ~41.) In another instance, Defendants attempted to collect a debt from a consumer even 

after she explained that the loan had been paid off with the proceeds of a second mortgage and 

that mortgage had been satisfied when she and her husband sold their home. (PX05 at 31 ~3.) In 

each of these instances, Defendants have continued to represent that the consumers owe the debt 

even though they have no reasonable basis to make these claims. (PX05 at 31 ~3, 32 ~~8-1 0; 

PX09 at 53-55 ~~9-15; PX12 at 374 ~7; PX15 at 395-96 ~~41-45.) 

Thus, Defendants violate Section 5 of the FTC Act, as alleged in Counts I and II of the 

Complaint. In addition, as alleged in Count III of the Complaint, Defendants violate Section 807 

of the FDCPA. As set forth in the Complaint, these violations contravene multiple subsections 

of Section 807, including: (a) subsection one, 15 U.S.C. §1692e(1), which prohibits the false 

representation or implication that the debt collector is affiliated with the United States or any 

State; (b) subsection two, 15 U.S.C. §1692e(2), which prohibits the false representation of the 

character, amount, or legal status of a debt; (c) subsection four, 15 U.S.C. §1692e(4), which 

prohibits the representation or implication that nonpayment of a debt will result in the arrest or 

imprisonment of a person or the seizure, garnishment, or attachment of a person's property or 

11 
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wages, when such action is not lawful or when Defendants have no intention of taking such 

action; (d) subsection five, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5), which prohibits the threat to take action that is 

not lawful or that is not intended to be taken; and (e) subsection ten, 15 U.S.C. §1692e(10), 

which prohibits the use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to 

collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer. 

B. Defendants Fail To Make Required Disclosures That They Are a Debt 
Collector and That They Are Contacting Consumers To Collect on a Debt 

Section 807(11) of the FDCPA requires debt collectors to disclose in their initial 

communication with consumers "that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that 

any information obtained will be used for that purpose," and "to disclose in subsequent 

communications that the communication is from a debt collector." 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (11).3 

Courts in this District have determined that voice mail messages are communications under the 

FDCPA. See, e.g. Ostrander, 2009 WL 909646 at *6. Therefore, voice mail messages also must 

contain the required disclosures. !d. 

Defendants routinely fail to make the required disclosures. Rarely, if ever, in their initial 

communication do Defendants make a meaningful disclosure of their identity, that they are debt 

collectors, or that they are calling in an attempt to collect a debt. Instead, Defendants 

deceptively identify themselves generically as investigators or check processors. (PXOI at 3, 
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Complaint. 

C. Defendants Engage in Prohibited Communications with Third Parties 

Section 805(b) of the FDCPA bars debt collectors from 
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at 36 ~15 (Defendants contacted consumer's aunt and threatened that the consumer was in legal 

trouble and would be arrested); PX08 at 49-50 ~11 (Defendants told consumer's brother, sister­

in-law, and parents of his children's friends that consumer was "a deadbeat" and encouraged 

them not to associate with him); PX12 at 374 ~6 (Defendants called consumer's brother); PX12 

at 375-76 ~15 (Defendants contacted consumer's mother and sister); PX15 at 388 ~4 (Defendants 

left message with consumer's mother); PX14 at 383-84 ~~5-6 (Defendants contacted consumer's 

mother and stepmother and told them the consumer had committed c o m 2 5 8 5 . 8 5  T m T 
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the consumer with a written notice containing the amount of the debt and the name of the 

creditor, along with a statement that the collector will assume the debt to be valid unless the 

consumer disputes the debt within 30 days, as well as a statement that the debt collector will send 

a verification of the debt or a copy of the judgment if the consumer timely disputes the debt in 

writing. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. This provision is intended to minimize instances of mistaken 

identity of a debtor or mistakes over the amount or existence of a debt. SeeS. Rep. No. 95-382, 

95th Cong., 1st Sess. at 4 (1977), reprinted in 1977 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1695, 1696. Consumers who 

do not receive the statutorily-required notice may never learn of their right to dispute or request 

verification of the alleged debt or its amount, age, or existence. 

Here, Defendants do not provide the required notices to consumers. In one instance, 

Defendant's representative told a consumer "it is not Nationwide Check Processing's policy to 

send out letters." (PX02 at 19-20, ~4.) Even in instances when the consumers disputed or 

questioned their alleged debts, Defendants have refused to provide verification to consumers. 

(PXO 1 at 1-2, ~~4-8 (Defendants refused to give consumer any written proof of the debt); PX09 

at 52-53 ~8; at 6 ~18 (Defendants refused to provide written verification of the debt); PX08 at 48 

~6 (Defendants never sent validation notice to consumer); PX03 at 26 ~ 14 (consumer never 

received any validation notice); PX05 at 33 ~7, 34 ~12 (Defendants would not provide validation 
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,, 16-17.) Months later, a negative entry appeared on the consumer's credit report relating to the 

same debt but the creditor listed was a different debt collection company. (!d. at ,18.) 

Defendants told another consumer paying on behalf of her son that they would not send her 

verification of the debt, but that they would send receipt of her payment. (PX07 at 44-45 ,!,8-9.) 

Defendants never sent the receipt. (I d.) Because Defendants routinely fail to provide validation 

notices, Defendants violate Section 809(a) ofthe FDCPA, as alleged in Count V ofthe 

Complaint. 

IV. A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER SHOULD 
ISSUE AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS 

A. This Court Has the Authoritv To Grant the Requested Relief 

Section 13(b) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), authorizes the FTC to seek, and the 

Court to issue, temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctions. The second proviso of 

Section 13(b ), under which the FTC brings this action, provides that "in proper cases the 

Commission may seek, and after proper proof, the court may issue, a permanent injunction." 15 

U.S.C. § 53(b ).4 Proper cases include actions involving "any violation of a provision of a statute 

administered by the FTC." FTC v. Minuteman Press, 53 F.Supp.2d 248, 260 (E.D.N.Y. 1998) 

(internal quotation marks omitted); FTC v. Evans Products Co., 775 F.2d 1084, 1087 (9th Cir. 

1985). Incident to its authority to issue permanent injunctive relief, this Court has the "broad 

equitable authority to 'grant any ancillary relief necessary to accomplish complete justice."' 

4 This action is not brought pursuant to the first proviso of 

"Congress22 18EMC 1ET
BT
/89.0.5346 259052a39 5805 0 T1984) 
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Five-Star Auto Club, Inc., 97 F. Supp. 2d at 533 (quoting FTC v. H.N. Singer, Inc., 668 F.2d 

1107, 1113 (9th Cir. 1982)). This ancillary relief can include a temporary restraining order, an 

asset freeze, expedited discovery, and other necessary remedies. See, e.g., id.; FTC v. Strano, 

528 Fed. Appx. 47, 49 (2d Cir. June 20, 2013) (summary order) (holding that district court's 

imposition of an asset freeze was not an abuse 



Case 1:14-cv-00122-WMS   Document 3   Filed 02/24/14   Page 25 of 36

Verity Int'l ("Verity F'), 124 F. Supp. 2d 193, 199 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); FTC v. Affordable Media, 

LLC, 179 F .3d 1228, 1233 (9th Cir. 1999); FTC v. Univ. Health, Inc., 938 F .2d 1206, 1218-19 

(lith Cir. 1991); see also SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d 1028, 1035-36 (2d Cir. 1990) (finding 

that where a federal agency seeks to enforce a federal statute, irreparable injury is presumed and 

need not 
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2. The Equities Weigh in Favor of Granting Injunctive Relief 

Once the FTC establishes the likelihood of its ultimate success on the merits, preliminary 

injunctive relief is warranted if the Court, weighing the equities, finds that relief is in the public 

interest. Although there is "some disagreement among circuits" about whether any weight 

should be given to private hardship, Verity I, 124 F. Supp. 2d at 199 n.38, in any case public 

equities must be given far greater weight. See, e.g., Lancaster Colony Corp., 434 F. Supp. at 

1096 ("The equities to be weighed . . . are not the usual equities of private litigation but public 

equities."); Univ. Health, Inc., 938 F.2d at 1225 ("While it is proper to consider private equities 

in deciding whether to enjoin a particular transaction, we must afford such concerns little weight, 

lest wB 189Tj
11.1 likely 11.1 80.4959 0  59nf 0 >>Bcofc 8uee wB 1052f 0 >>Bdece v3 11.1 80074
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found to be illegal," the balance of equities tips decidedly toward granting the relief. United 

States v. Diapulse Corp. of Am., 457 F.2d 25, 29 (2d 
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consumer. (PX01 at 1 ~3, 3 ~10; PX14 at 383 ~10, Att. A.) In addition, some consumers have 

received letters from Defendants that reference multiple company names. For example, one 

consumer received an emailed letter on US Check Processing letterhead that was signed by a 

person identifying himself as an account manager for United Check Processing. (PX 10 at 61 ~5, 

Att. A.) Another consumer received a letter that 
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("[A]n individual's status as a corporate officer on behalf of a corporate defendant can be 

probative of control."). Even where an individual is not officially designated as a corporate 

officer, courts consider "the control that Even officially098Tj
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FTC Act to grant ancillary relief necessary to accomplish complete justice. Five-Star Auto Club, 

Inc., 97 F. Supp. 2d at 533. These requested prohibitions do no more than order the Defendants 

to comply with the FTC Act and the FDCP A. 

B. An Asset Preservation Order Is Necessary To Preserve 
the Possibility of Final Effective Relief 

When a district court determines that the FTC is likely to prevail 
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have engaged in fraudulent practices are likely to waste assets before resolution of the action. 

See SEC v. Spongetech Delivery Sys., Inc., No. 10-CV-2031 (DLI)(JMA), 2011 WL 887940, at 

*5 
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C. A Receiver Is 







Case 1:14-cv-00122-WMS   Document 3   Filed 02/24/14   Page 36 of 36

Dated: February 24, 2014 

Respectful ·submitted, 

ATHERINE M. WORTHMAN 
COLIN HECTOR 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Federal Trade Commission 
600 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W. 
Washington, DC 20589 
Telephone: (202) 326-2929; 
Facsimile: (202) 326-3629 
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